2010

Lynn and Eileen Harding v. Pecan Ridge Partners,  
Atlas Title Insurance Agency, Scott Wilson, Jeremy  
Larkin, Scott Nielson, Randy Kidman, Dave White,  
and Roger Cater : Brief of Appellants

Utah Court of Appeals

### **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

Jurisdiction is proper with this court pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78a-4-104(2).

### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. Was the trial court correct to hold that there are no genuine issues of material fact?
2. Did the trial court properly grant summary judgment to defendants on the issue of proximate cause.

### **STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW**

The court reviews facts and inferences from those facts in the light most favorable to the losing party, overturning summary judgment and remanding the case for further proceedings on issues if it concludes that genuine issue of material fact exist; where no material facts remain unresolved, the court examines the trial court's conclusions of law and review them for correctness. English v. Kienke, 774 P.2d 1154 (UT App. 1989), affirmed 848 P.2d 153 (Utah 1993).

### **ISSUE PRESERVATION**

On December 2, 2010, plaintiffs filed a Notice of Appeal of the district court's final Order Granting Summary Judgment, entered November 4, 2010 (R. 456, 460).



## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### **A. NATURE OF THE CASE**

Plaintiffs sold their home and adjoining land in Washington County to Pecan Ridge Partners, LLC (hereinafter “Pecan Ridge”) (R. 115, 362). In exchange, the plaintiffs received a trust deed on the property and other consideration (R. 115, 116, 362).

Atlas Title Insurance Company, Inc. (hereinafter “Atlas Title”) performed the closing on December 5, 2011 (R. 116). At that time, the Hardings executed a warranty deed to Pecan Ridge, and Pecan Ridge executed a first trust deed on the property in favor of a group of investors in the amount of \$372,713.67, and a second trust deed in favor of the Hardings in the amount of \$800,633.11 (R. 116, 202, 214). The Hardings were told that their trust deed would be recorded the following day in second position (R. 116, 364). Atlas Title recorded the warranty deed and the first trust deed the following day, but failed to record the Harding’s trust deed for more than nine months (R. 116, 193, 202, 214).

Before the trust deed was recorded, Pecan Ridge had encumbered the property with two additional trust deeds, recorded on May 7, 2007 and August 17, 2007 (about the time Mr. Harding brought the failure to record the deed to Atlas Title’s attention), to third parties with a principal balance of \$1,391,000. Those trust deeds were also recorded by Atlas Title (R. 116, 218, 222). These additional

encumbrances completely destroyed the value of the Harding's security interest in the property (R. 367).

Pecan Ridge thereafter traded the original parcel for a second piece of land. As part of the transaction, the plaintiffs received a trust deed in second position on this new property and released their trust deed on the original parcel (R. 117). The holder of the trust deed in first position foreclosed upon the property in March of 2009, extinguishing the plaintiff's trust deed (R. 120).

## **B. COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS**

Plaintiffs filed a complaint in the Fifth District Court of Washington County, the on May 11, 2009 against Pecan Ridge and Atlas Title (R. 1). Plaintiffs served Pecan Ridge, Atlas Title and Pecan Ridge, as well as Randy Kidman and Dave White (employees of Atlas), and Jeremy Larkin and Scott Wilson (principals of Pecan Ridge) (R. 19, 23, 84, 85, 107, 318). Pecan Ridge did not file an answer and its default was entered and a judgment entered (R. 39, 104). Defendants Roger Cater (a former employee of Atlas Title) and Scott Nielson (a principal of Pecan Ridge) were not served.

The amended complaint included claims for breach of contract against Pecan Ridge, breach of contract against Atlas Title, breach of good faith and fair dealing, breach of fiduciary duty against Atlas Title, civil conspiracy, negligence against Atlas Title and conversion (R. 54).

The Hardings requested a jury trial (R. 41).

After discovery was completed, the defendants filed two motions for summary judgment (R. 111, 125)<sup>1</sup>. The first motion was in regard to the conspiracy claims (the Hardings do not contest the dismissal of this claim). The second motion sought dismissal of the remaining claims on the issue of proximate cause. The trial court granted both motions and the plaintiffs appealed (R. 456, 460).

The trial court, in its order, held that “there is no genuine issue as to any material fact that might preclude entry of summary judgment and that summary judgment is appropriate as a matter of law.” (R. 457). With respect to the proximate cause issue, the trial court held that:

Specifically, it is Plaintiffs’ burden to prove, with respect to all of their claims, that the Title Defendants’ actions were the proximate cause of Plaintiff’s damages. Plaintiffs did not meet this burden because determining causation on the facts and evidence presented to the court could not be done without engaging in impermissible speculation. (R. 457).

On appeal, the Hardings are not disputing the dismissal of the conspiracy claim, and only seek a review of the proximate cause ruling.

## **C. STATEMENT OF FACTS**

### **1. INITIAL SALE AND FAILURE TO RECORD TRUST DEED**

---

<sup>1</sup> The motion was filed by defendants Atlas Title, Kidman and White; defendants Wilson and Larkin joined in the motion for summary judgment on the conspiracy



Lynn and Eileen Harding owned property located in Washington County containing approximately 10 acres. They lived in a home on the property and conducted their horse business there (R. 115, 362, 375).

The Hardings agreed to sell their home and property to Pecan Ridge, a real estate development group. The Hardings financed a large portion of the purchase price for the Initial Property (R. 115). Atlas Title Insurance Company, Inc.

(hereinafter "Atlas Title") performed the closing on December 5, 2011 (R. 116).

At that time, the Hardings executed a warranty deed to Pecan Ridge. Pecan Ridge executed a first trust deed on the property in favor of a group of investors in the amount of \$372,713.67, and a second trust deed in favor of the Hardings in the amount of \$800,633.11 (R. 116, 202, 214). The Hardings were told that their trust deed would be recorded the following day in second position (R. 116, 364).

Atlas Title recorded the warranty deed and the first trust deed the following day, but failed to record the Harding's trust deed for more than nine months (R. 116, 193, 202, 214).

The Harding attempted to obtain a copy of the papers from the closing and the recorded deed from Atlas Title during that nine month period, and were told that the papers would be provided. Finally, Mr. Harding went to the County recorder in August of 2007 and discovered that the trust deed had not been

---

claim (R. 347).

recorded (R. 117, 364, 365). After bringing this to Atlas Title's attention, the Harding's trust deed was finally recorded on September 11, 2007 (R. 117, 366, 367).

Before the Harding's trust deed was recorded, Pecan Ridge had encumbered the property with two additional trust deeds, recorded on May 7, 2007 and August 17, 2007 (about the time Mr. Harding brought the failure to record the deed to Atlas Title's attention), to third parties. The principal balance of these two intervening trust deeds was \$1,391,000. Those trust deeds were also recorded by Atlas Title (R. 116, 218, 222). These additional encumbrances completely destroyed the value of the Harding's security interest in the property (R.367).

## **2. TRANSACTIONS FOLLOWING RECORDING OF TRUST DEED**

As part of a separate transaction, not related to the sale of the original parcel, plaintiff Pecan Ridge executed a second trust deed and note in favor of the Hardings (R. 117, 367). The Harding's second note had a principal balance of \$750,000, and the trust deed was recorded on a second parcel of property on September 27, 2011 (R. 117).

In April of 2008, Pecan Ridge engaged in a real estate exchange whereby it transferred the two properties encumbered by the Harding's trust deeds in exchange for a third parcel (R. 117). The Harding received a trust deed and note



on this third parcel, with a principal balance of \$1,550,633.10, the total unpaid balance of the two prior trust deed notes (R. 117, 118). The Hardings understood that their new trust deed would be in second position on the new property (R. 118).

The Hardings executed requests for reconveyance of the two prior trust deeds at that time, and Atlas Title, as trustee, executed and recorded the reconveyances (R. 117, 253, 256).

The Pecan Ridge development failed, perhaps due in part due to the collapsing real estate market in Washington County, and the trust deed in superior position to plaintiffs' final trust deed was foreclosed in March of 2009 (R. 119, 120), eliminating the Harding's secured interest in the third property. The Hardings filed this action two months later (R. 1).

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

The trial court failed to recognize that there are genuine issues of material fact with respect to at least three of defendant's factual assertions.

The trial court granted summary judgment on the issue of causation as it essentially decided that there may were other contributing factors to the Hardings' loss. Rather than requiring the defendant to prove that Atlas Title's neglect was not a possible cause of the Hardings' injury, the trial court instead essentially required the Hardings to show that Atlas Title's neglect was the sole cause of the

loss. Case law in Utah prohibits trial courts from deciding the issue of causation on such a basis.

## ARGUMENT

### **A. GENERAL PRINCIPLES OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT**

Summary judgment procedure is generally considered drastic remedy, should be granted with reluctance and requires strict compliance with rule authorizing it. Utah R. Civ. Proc. 56. Timm v. Dewsnup, 851 P.2d 1178 (Utah 1993); Hously v. Anaconda Co., 427 P.2d 390 (Utah 1967). Summary judgment is a drastic remedy and courts should be reluctant to deprive litigants of an opportunity to fully present their contentions upon a trial, and therefore, summary judgment should be granted only when under the facts viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff he could not recover as a matter of law. Welchman v. Wood, 337 P.2d 410 (Utah 1959). Summary judgment is a drastic remedy and should be granted with reluctance. Housley v. Anaconda Co., 427 P.2d 390 (Utah 1967).

Summary judgment is appropriate only when there are no genuine issues of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Gardner v. Board of County Com'rs of Wasatch County, 178 P.3d 893 (Utah 2008). Litigants must be able to present their cases fully to court before judgment can be rendered against them unless it is obvious from evidence before court that

party opposing judgment can establish no right to recovery. Drysdale v. Ford Motor Co., 947 P.2d 678 (Utah 1997). In view of constitutional guarantee of access to the courts for protection of rights and redress of wrongs, summary judgment, which denies opportunity for trial, should be granted only when it clearly appears that there is no reasonable probability that the party moved against could prevail. Utah Const. Art. 1, § 11. Utah State University of Agriculture and Applied Science v. Sutro & Co., 646 P.2d 715 (Utah 1982)

It is not purpose of summary judgment procedure to judge credibility of averments of parties or witnesses, or the weight of evidence, nor is it to deny parties right to trial to resolve disputed issues of fact. Kilpatrick v. Wiley, Rein & Fielding, 1996, 909 P.2d 1283, certiorari denied 919 P.2d 1208. If there is any dispute as to any issue material to settlement of controversy, summary judgment should not be granted. Holbrook Co. v. Adams, 542 P.2d 191 (Utah 1975).

The judge hearing a summary judgment motion may not draw fact inferences as to the moving party's purpose or intention; such inferences may only be drawn at trial. Rules Civ.Proc., Rule 56(c). Goodnow v. Sullivan, 44 P.3d 704 (Utah 2002). Contentions of the party opposing the motion must be considered in a light most advantageous to him and go to trial. Controlled Receivables, Inc. v. Harriman, 413 P.2d 807 (Utah 1966). Essentially, summary judgment is only appropriate when it is clear from the undisputed facts that the opposing party



cannot prevail. Lach v. Deseret Bank, 746 P.2d 802 (Utah 1987).

In reviewing a grant of summary judgment, the appellate court gives no deference to the district court's conclusions of law, and reviews them for correctness. Grynberg v. Questar Pipeline Co., 70 P.3d 1 (Utah 2003).

## **B. DISPUTED FACTS**

Despite the assertion of the trial court to the contrary, there were material facts presented by Atlas Title that were disputed by the Hardings. While the facts given in paragraphs 4 of Atlas Title's motion was disputed, they are not necessarily material. Only an inference was disputed in paragraph 12 of Atlas Title's facts. However, the facts and inferences from the facts set forth below were disputed and were material.

### **1. FACT #6**

Atlas Title's undisputed fact number six provided that:

The Hardings' trust deed note was to be secured by a trust deed recorded against the Initial Property. The Hardings did not provide Atlas Title with written recording instructions regarding the recording of the trust deed against the Initial Property.

(R, 116). The Hardings responded as follows:

Plaintiff's deny the second sentence of this paragraph. First, plaintiffs object that the citations to the record do not support that conclusion. The Trust Deed would not contain any closing instructions, and Request No. 70 of Exhibit 9 is a response to request for admissions, unverified and not given in the form of an unsworn declaration, and is therefore hearsay. Denying a request for admission is not evidence.

Plaintiff's assert that they did provide closing instructions, and state as additional facts that they were assured by Atlas Title that the recording would take place the morning after the closing:

a. At closing, plaintiffs signed a document which included recording instructions. It was prepared by Atlas Title. It said that their trust deed was to be recorded within 72 hours. Plaintiffs were verbally told by the Atlas representative that it would take approximately 3 days to get the recorded deed back to them. They were told Atlas Title that it would actually be recorded in the morning following the closing. Atlas Title told plaintiffs that they were going to give plaintiffs copies of these documents, as well as the title policy and many other documents they signed, within three days.

b. Plaintiffs were charged for a title policy. See defendant's exhibit 6, line 1108. Plaintiffs were also told by Atlas Title in a letter that Atlas had provided title insurance.

c. Plaintiffs requested in discovery that Atlas admit that tile insurance was provided, which Atlas denied, and requested a copy of these closing documents as well as the title policy. See Defendant Atlas Title's Insurance Agency, Inc., Answer to Plaintiff's First Discovery Request, response to request for admissions #3 and response to request for production of documents #17, 18, 19 and 20. Atlas provided nothing.

(R. 362-3). It is clear from this evidence that Atlas Title as provided closing instructions, but did not give copies to the Hardings.

## **2. FACT #8**

Atlas Title's undisputed fact number eight provided that:

The Hardings trust deed was to be recorded after the Goodman et al. trust deed, in second lien position on the Initial Property, but-through inadvertence-it was not immediately recorded by Atlas Title.

(R. 116). The Hardings responded as follows:

Plaintiffs deny that it was through inadvertence that the trust deed was not immediately recorded by Atlas Title. The citations to the record do not support that conclusion. The Trust Deed does not contain any information



on why the trust deed was not recorded for nine months, and the response to interrogatories states that "As best as Atlas Title can tell, it was inadvertence on the part of the employee whose duty it was to record documents for Atlas Title." That is not evidence that it was inadvertence, only a statement of probability or a guess.

Plaintiffs assert that it was not inadvertence with the following facts:

- a. The first position trust deed was recorded the day following the closing, September 6, 2007, just plaintiffs were told their trust deed would be recorded the following day.
- b. Three days after the closing, Lynn Harding called Atlas title to see if he could come and pick up the deed. They said they did not have it yet but they would get it to the Hardings.
- c. Two weeks after the closing, Lynn Harding went to Atlas Title. Someone new was in the office, and they said they would have to wait to get back to the Hardings until the person in charge was back from Christmas vacation.
- d. Eileen Harding called Atlas Title during the second week in January. She was told that Atlas would get a copy to the Hardings.
- e. After that, Lynn Harding called Atlas Title eight or ten times, approximately once per month, to get a copy of the recorded deed. They told him every time that they would get it to him.
- f. Eileen Harding stopped by twice at the Atlas Office to get a copy of the recorded deed, and was told that it would be sent to the Hardings.
- g. Lynn Harding stopped by the Atlas Office approximately six times, and was told that the deed would be sent to the Hardings. He remembers talking to Randy Kidman in particular on several occasions.
- h. Lynn Harding was at the title company as part of transactions with adjoining properties, and always requested a copy of the recorded deed.
- i. There were various excuses given for why the deed could not be provided by Atlas, including that they couldn't find the right file, that Randy was on vacation, that the file was not at that office, or that the guy who records the documents had the file with him.
- j. Finally, Lynn Harding went to the county recorder to just get a copy of the recorded deed in late August of 2007. At that time he found out that the deed had not been recorded.
- k. Lynn Harding immediately went to Atlas Title. Lynn Harding was told that it was a slip-up and that they would take care of it. At that time, Lynn Harding asked for titled his title insurance and closing instructions, and was told that they didn't have a copy of either document.
- l. Eileen Harding called during the first week in September, asking for a

copy of the deed. Atlas Title said they would fax it to her.

m. Eilenn Harding called the following week, and the recorded deed was faxed to her the next day.

n. There were additional deeds recorded on the "Initial Property" between the time of the Hardings' closing and when their trust deed was finally recorded. See defendant's exhibit # 12 and 13. These closings were performed by Atlas Title and Atlas Title served as the Trustee of the trust deeds. As stated above, the Hardings requested copies of the closing documents in discovery for these transactions, and Atlas did not provide them.

(R. 363-5) While the Hardings can point to no conclusive evidence that the failure to record the deed was intentional, there clearly is enough evidence, and inferences from that evidence, when viewed in the light most favorable to the Hardings, to conclude that the failure to record the deed was more than inadvertence.

### **3. FACT #10**

Atlas Title's undisputed fact number ten provided that:

Sometime in August or September 2007, the Hardings brought it to Atlas Title's attention that their trust deed was not recorded. After confirming this, Atlas Title immediately recorded the trust deed.

(R. 117). The Hardings responded as follows:

Plaintiff's deny the second sentence of this paragraph. First, plaintiffs object that the citations to the record do not support that conclusion. The Trust Deed would not contain any information regarding when the Hardings found out that their trust deed had not been recorded, and paragraph 65 of Exhibit 9 is a response to request for admissions, unverified and not given in the form of an unsworn declaration, and is therefore hearsay. Denying a request for admission is not evidence. Further, the response states that:



Atlas Title was not made aware of the failure to record until it was brought to their attention by Plaintiff Lynn Harding sometime in September 2007. Therefore, Atlas Title must deny because it did not notify Plaintiff of the recording issue. Nowhere in this statement does it state the recording took place immediately after Atlas was notified of the problem.

Plaintiff's assert that the deed was not immediately recorded after the problem was brought to Atlas' attention with the following facts:

- a. Lynn Harding went to the county recorder to just get a copy of the recorded deed in late August of 2007. At that time he found out that the deed had not been recorded.
- b. Lynn Harding immediately went to Atlas Title. Lynn Harding was told that it was a slip-up and that they would take care of it.
- c. Eileen Harding called during the first week in September, asking for a copy of the deed. Atlas Title said they would fax it to her.
- d. Eileen Harding called the following week, and the recorded deed was faxed to her the next day.

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