2010

Lynn and Eileen Harding v. Pecan Ridge Partners,
Atlas Title Insurance Agency, Scott Wilson, Jeremy
Larkin, Scott Nielson, Randy Kidman, Dave White,
and Roger Cater: Brief of Appellees

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This is a case where summary judgment worked as it should. Atlas Title made an error in recording the Hardings' trust deed on the Initial Property. That is not in dispute. However, it is also undisputed that the error was rendered irrelevant when the Hardings reconveyed that trust deed to allow for a land exchange on a different parcel of property—the Final Property. Atlas Title recorded the Hardings' trust deed on the Final Property in second position, exactly where the Hardings instructed Atlas Title to place it.

What followed is also undisputed: The economic crash struck the Washington County real estate market; funding dried up; Pecan Ridge Partners defaulted on its loan obligation to the senior lienholder; the senior lienholder foreclosed; and the downstream lienholders, including the Hardings, had their security interests wiped out. Pecan Ridge Partners is now defunct, and the Hardings cannot collect on their loan.

Regardless of whether the Hardings' claims are based in contract or tort, they fail if the Hardings cannot demonstrate that Atlas Title's error was the proximate cause of their damages. This they cannot do. "Proximate cause is that cause which, in the natural and continuous sequence unbroken by an efficient intervening cause, produces the injury and without which the result would not have occurred.'" *Mahmood v. Ross*, 1999 UT 104, ¶ 22, 990 P.2d 933 (quoting *Harline v. Barker*, 912 P.2d 433, 439 (Utah 1996) (alterations omitted)).

The reconveyance of the trust deed and all the events that followed intervened to break any connection between Atlas Title's error and the damage the Hardings later suffered. On that score reasonable persons could not disagree. Therefore, the trial court correctly granted summary judgment to the Title Defendants. *See Harline*, 912 P.2d at 439 (reasoning that causation fails as a matter of law and summary judgment is appropriate "when the facts are so clear that reasonable persons could not disagree about the underlying facts or about the application of a legal standard to the facts").

Notwithstanding these undisputed facts, the Hardings' attempt to connect the dots of causation from Atlas Title's error to the damage caused by the foreclosure by arguing

that they only released their trust deed on the Initial Property to avoid the effects of Atlas Title's error, placed it on the Final Property to somehow recoup their losses, and only had the damage manifest itself when Pecan Ridge Partners defaulted and the senior lienholder foreclosed its trust deed. As the trial court concluded, this is pure speculation.

There is nothing to suggest that the same result would not have happened without Atlas Title's error. Rather, it requires speculation that second place on the Initial Property was somehow better than second place on the Final Property. It requires speculation that, despite the economy, there would have been no default and foreclosure. And, barring that, it requires speculation that there would have been some equity left over to make the Hardings whole even if the error had not occurred.

Further, it requires us to ignore the fact that the Initial Property was held for only a short period of time. Other property was acquired, combined with the Initial Property, and swapped for the Final Property, which would become Pecan Ridge. There is nothing to suggest that this would not have occurred but for Atlas Title's error. We can only speculate.

Furthermore, the Hardings' argument impermissibly ignores what they did or could have done to avoid the loss. For example, if releasing the trust deed on the Initial Property was to their detriment—as they argue—they should not have agreed to release it. They could have refused to release their trust deeds against the Initial and Additional Properties until they were paid in full on the underlying obligation. They did not. They could have refused to agree to the Ash Creek land exchange until they were fully

compensated. They did not. They could have insisted that Atlas Title remedy the error. They did not. Instead, they released their trust deed and instructed Atlas Title to put them in second position on the Final Property.

Indeed, as demonstrated by the undisputed facts, the Hardings were never intended to be in better than second place on any property on which they took a security interest. It is speculation for them to now claim that they would not have had their second position security interest foreclosed but for Atlas Title's error. As a result, the trial court correctly concluded that the Hardings' claims failed as a matter of law. *See Harline*, 912 P.2d at 439 (stating that causation fails as a matter of law and summary judgment is appropriate "when the proximate cause of an injury is left to speculation").

This Court should affirm.

ARGUMENT

I. THE "DISPUTED FACTS" IDENTIFIED BY THE HARDINGS ARE NOT MATERIAL TO THE ISSUE ON APPEAL.

The Hardings identify what they believe are three fact statements that preclude entry of summary judgment and warrant reversal. (Appellants' Br. at 10-13.) However, the brief of our co-Appellees Scott Wilson and Jeremy Larkin (at 9-11) has it right: These so-called disputes are not material to the issue presented on appeal. The three fact statements targeted by the Hardings address the following:

- Whether there were written instructions for the recording of the Hardings' trust deed on the Initial Property (Fact No. 6):

- Whether Atlas Title's failure to immediately record the Hardings' trust deed against the Initial Property was the result of inadvertence or something sinister (Fact No. 8); and
- Whether Atlas Title "immediately" recorded the trust deed after the Hardings first brought the recording issue to Atlas Title's attention or whether it was a week or so after (Fact No. 10).

None of these attempted disputes are material to the causation issue now on appeal. The initial recording instructions are not material because the Hardings do not dispute that they were supposed be in second position on the Initial Property. The reason Atlas Title did not immediately record the Hardings' trust deed in second position against the Initial Property and whether Atlas Title recorded that trust deed "immediately" after the issue was brought to its attention or within a few weeks thereafter are also not material. The argument section of the Hardings' brief bears this out, as there is no analysis demonstrating how these supposed fact disputes warrant reversal of the trial court's causation determination.

"[T]he mere existence of genuine issues of fact in the case as a whole does not preclude the entry of summary judgment if those issues are immaterial to resolution of the case." *Horgan v. Industrial Design Corp.*, 657 P.2d 751, 752 (Utah 1982). *See also Sanns v. Butterfield Ford*, 2004 UT App 203, ¶ 6, 94 P.3d 301 (the "mere existence of genuine issues of fact ... does not preclude the entry of summary judgment if those issues are immaterial to resolution of the case") (citation and quotation omitted); Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c). Because these alleged disputed facts are not material to the resolution of the

causation issue, they cannot form the basis for reversing the trial court's entry of summary judgment.³

To be sure, these fact statements were presented by the Title Defendants primarily in connection with their summary judgment motion on the Hardings' civil conspiracy claim. (R. 125, 131-133.)⁴ The Hardings submitted a joint opposition to both motions, attempting to dispute these facts in an effort to keep their conspiracy claim alive. (R. 361-367, 372-373.) But, as indicated at page 4 of their brief, the Hardings "do not contest" summary judgment on the conspiracy claim. (Appellants' Br. at 4.) As a result of their failure to brief or otherwise appeal entry of summary judgment on the conspiracy claim, they have abandoned that issue. *See Pixton v. State Farm Mutual Auto. Ins. Co.*, 809 P.2d 746, 751 (Utah Ct. App. 1991). Their fact disputes are not material.

³ Moreover, even if these attempted disputes are material to the causation motion—and they are not—the Hardings did not properly dispute these fact statements before the trial court in the first instance. As the Title Defendants argued below, the Hardings' responses to these fact statements were insufficient to put them in dispute. To properly dispute a fact statement, a non-movant is required to offer a direct counter to that statement. *See Johnson v. Hermes Assocs., Ltd.*, 2005 UT 82, ¶ 24, 128 P.3d 1151. None of the Hardings' responses to the fact statements in question constitute a direct counter. Rather, they consist of drawn out commentary, recharacterize each statement, and give long recitations of conclusory opinion and argument. That is not providing a direct counter and, "[a]bsent a direct counter," the statement is undisputed. *Id.* ¶ 24.

⁴ For ease of reference, we submitted identical fact statements and a joint set of exhibits to the trial court in both summary judgment motions. (R. 131-136, 115-120, 148.)

II. A TRIAL COURT MAY DECIDE CAUSATION ON SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

The Hardings begin their argument by devoting over six pages of their brief (at 8-10, 14-18) assailing summary judgment generally and cherry picking quotations from opinions to make it appear as though summary judgment is never appropriate on the issue of causation. That is not true.

For starters, “[s]ummary judgment of lawsuits is a valuable and necessary tool in a judicial system such as ours, which strives for the efficient and timely resolution of legal disputes. Granting summary judgment saves the parties and the courts the time and expense of a full-blown trial.” *Wycalis v. Guardian Title*, 780 P.2d 821, 824 (Utah Ct. App. 1989). Indeed, “[t]he purpose of summary judgment is to eliminate the time, trouble, and expense of trial when it is clear as a matter of law that the party ruled against is not entitled to prevail.” *Amjacs Interwest, Inv. v. Design Assocs.*, 635 P.2d 53, 54 (Utah 1981).

The value and purpose of summary judgment is not diminished simply because the issue involves causation. The Utah Supreme Court flat rejected that suggestion in *Harline v. Barker*, 912 P.2d 433, 439 (Utah 1996): “We therefore reject Harline’s first contention that the presence of an issue of proximate cause precludes summary judgment.” *Id.* at 439. See also, e.g., *Mitchell v. Pearson Enters.*, 697 P.2d 240, 246 (Utah 1985) (affirming summary judgment on causation); *Thurston v. Workers Comp. Fund*, 2003 UT App 438, ¶¶ 14, 23, 83 P.3d 391 (affirming summary judgment on proximate cause issue); *Clark v. Farmers Ins. Exchange*, 893 P.2d 598, 601 (Utah Ct.

App. 1995) (affirming summary judgment on causation issue where plaintiff could not show cause of injury without speculating). Thus, the Hardings attack on summary judgment and selective quotations from case law are not sufficient to overturn the trial court's grant of summary judgment.⁵

Rather, summary judgment is always appropriate where there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *See* Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c). As set forth below, there is no genuine issue of material fact and the Title Defendants are entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

III. ATLAS TITLE'S FAILURE TO RECORD THE TRUST DEED AGAINST THE INITIAL PROPERTY IS NOT THE PROXIMATE CAUSE OF THE HARDINGS' DAMAGES.

A. Proximate Cause.

The Hardings alleged five claims against the Title Defendants: breach of contract, breach of good faith and fair dealing, breach of fiduciary duty, negligence, and conversion. (R. 54-62.)⁶ They seek nearly \$2.5 million in damages. (R. 62-63.) Whether based in contract or tort, each of these claims has a common and essential element: proximate cause. *See Mahmood v. Ross*, 1999 UT 104, ¶¶ 19-22, 990 P.2d 933 (proximate cause standard in contract cases); *Thurston v. Workers Compensation Fund*,

⁵ We believe the brief and arguments of our co-Appellees Wilson and Larkin have adequately distinguished the principal cases relied on by the Hardings and therefore find it unnecessarily duplicative to restate them here. Rather, we join in those arguments.

⁶ As noted above, the sixth claim for conspiracy was decided on separate grounds (R. 457) and not appealed. *See* Appellants' Br. at 4. Therefore, the Hardings have abandoned the conspiracy claim. *See Pixton*, 809 P.2d at 751.

2003 UT App 438, ¶¶ 20-23, 83 P.3d 391 (citing *Mahmood* and reasoning that proximate cause standard is the same whether based on contract or tort).

“Proximate cause is that cause which, in the natural and continuous sequence unbroken by an efficient intervening cause, produces the injury and without which the result would not have occurred.” *Mahmood*, 1999 UT 104, ¶ 22 (quoting *Harline*, 912 P.2d at 439 (alterations omitted)). Though determining proximate cause is generally a question of fact left for the fact finder, the issue may be decided by the court as a matter of law on summary judgment where the “facts fall on either of two opposite ends of a factual continuum.” *Harline*, 912 P.2d at 439. These are: “(i) when the facts are so clear that reasonable persons could not disagree about the underlying facts or about the application of a legal standard to the facts, and (ii) when the proximate cause of an injury is left to speculation so that the claim fails as a matter of law.” *Id.*

The Title Defendants based their summary judgment motion on the grounds that the Hardings’ claims against the Title Defendants fall at the first end of the continuum. The Hardings responded below—and argue on appeal—that but for Atlas Title’s error they would not have been damaged. As the trial court correctly concluded, the Hardings’ argument simply pulled the matter to the opposite end of the continuum, thereby resulting in summary judgment for the Title Defendants. As set forth below, at either end of the continuum, summary judgment should be affirmed.

B. Reasonable People Could Not Disagree About the Cause of the Hardings' Damages.

Each of the Hardings' claims against the Title Defendants is premised on the assumption that the failure to timely record the trust deed in second position against the Initial Property was the proximate cause of the Hardings' damages. The undisputed facts show otherwise.

The failure to timely record the Hardings' trust deed on the Initial Property is irrelevant. There was no default on any loan for the Initial Property. The Hardings, as junior lien holders on the Initial Property, did not have their security interest wiped out by a foreclosure of a senior interest thereby leaving them without security. Thus, the "damage" caused by Atlas Title's recording error was completely hypothetical. And it would remain a hypothetical because the Initial Property was not intended for the final development stage.

Rather, it was combined with the Additional Property and swapped with a special service district for an entirely separate parcel—the Final Property. To that end, the lienholders, including the Hardings, reconveyed their interests on the Final and Additional Properties to make the exchange happen. Atlas Title then followed the Hardings' written instructions by placing them in second position on the Final Property. Atlas Title's recording error became irrelevant the minute the Hardings requested the reconveyance. *See Utah Code § 57-1-33.1(1)(a)* ("When an obligation secured by a trust deed has been satisfied, the trustee shall, upon written request by the beneficiary, reconvey the trust property."). Those acts re-set the frame of the transaction.

What is not hypothetical and is relevant is what undisputedly happened next. The economy crashed and real estate funding dried up. Pecan Ridge Partners defaulted on its loan to the senior lienholder. The senior lienholder foreclosed on the Final Property. That foreclosure wiped out the security interests of junior lienholders, including the Hardings. It is unexceptional that anyone who takes anything other than a senior lien position on collateral runs the risk of having their security foreclosed out by the senior lienholder. *See* 53 C.J.S. *Liens* § 50 (West 2010) (recognizing that “foreclosure by a senior lienor often wipes out junior lien interest in the same collateral”).

Atlas Title’s recording error on the now irrelevant Initial Property did not cause these events to occur. To connect the dots of causation back to the error, the Court would have to ignore all of these intervening events. But it cannot, because without these intervening events there is no damage. That much is beyond dispute. These undisputed facts establish a clear break in any causal link between Atlas Title’s error and the damage suffered by the Hardings. These are the supervening events wholly unrelated to the error—the “efficient intervening causes” which break the natural and continuous sequence of events and, by definition, defeat proximate cause. *Mahmood*, 1999 UT 104, ¶ 22; *Harline*, 912 P.2d at 439.

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